047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED 3-22
råB 23 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: 81,046

JOSEPH DiGERLANDO,

vs.

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

THORNTON J. WILLIAMS
General Counsel
THOMAS F. CAPSHEW
Assistant General Counsel
FLORIDA BAR ID # 0606545
Florida Department of Transportation
605 Suwannee Street, MS 58
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0458
Phone: (904) 488-9425

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Joseph DiGerlando, Plaintiff/Respondent shall be referred to in this brief as "DiGERLANDO." The State of Florida, Department of Transportation, Defendant/Petitioner shall be referred to in this brief as the "DEPARTMENT." The Appendix to this brief contains all of the pleadings and evidence in the Circuit Court file. It also contains a copy of the Transcript of the hearing conducted on April 27, 1992. References to the documents in the Appendix to this brief shall be shown as (A), with the appropriate page numbers inserted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

DiGERLANDO initiated an inverse condemnation action by filing a compliant alleging that a map of reservation which encompassed a portion of DiGERLANDO's property was filed by the DEPARTMENT and resulted in a "taking." (A 1-5) DiGERLANDO alleged that the map of reservation restricted him from developing the property to its highest and best use and made the property "difficult, if not impossible, to sell or lease in a way which would be most beneficial to the owner." (A 2) The Complaint alleged that the map resulted in a "taking" of DiGERLANDO's property and requested compensation. (A 2-3) Attached to the Complaint was a legal description of property allegedly owned by DiGERLANDO and a copy of a map of reservation allegedly affecting DiGERLANDO's property. (A 4,5)

In response to the Complaint, the DEPARTMENT filed a Motion to Dismiss arguing that DiGERLANDO failed to allege that a substantial portion of his property was affected, and that the Complaint failed to set forth specific facts as required by Fla.R.App.P. 1.110(b).

(A 6-7) The Motion to Dismiss was denied and the DEPARTMENT was directed to file an Answer to the Complaint.(A 8)

The DEPARTMENT's Answer admitted that it has filed maps of reservation pursuant to §337.241, but denied the substantive allegations of the Complaint. (A 9-10) The DEPARTMENT's Answer included four (4) affirmative defenses: that there has been no

"taking"; that DiGERLANDO has not suffered any damages; that there is no map of reservation on DiGERLANDO's property; and, that DiGERLANDO's investment backed expectations have not been interfered with or diminished in any manner. (A 10)

T , I

DiGERLANDO moved for Summary Judgment on the issue of liability. (A 12-17) A hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment was held before Judge John Gilbert on April 27, 1992. (A 18-38) The DEPARTMENT argued against the summary judgment by arguing that there are no facts in evidence and by arguing that DiGERLANDO is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law. After the hearing, the Judge entered an order granting the Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of liability and reserving jurisdiction to determine the amount of DiGERLANDO's damages. (A 39) An appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal timely followed. (A 40-42)

The Second District Court of Appeal entered its opinion affirming the finding of a "taking," and certifying the following question to this Court:

WHETHER ALL LANDOWNERS WITH PROPERTY INSIDE THE BOUNDARIES OF INVALIDATED MAPS OF RESERVATION UNDER SUBSECTIONS 337.241(2) AND (3), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), ARE LEGALLY ENTITLED TO RECEIVE PER SE DECLARATIONS OF TAKING AND JURY TRIALS TO DETERMINE JUST COMPENSATION.

Florida Department of Transportation v. DiGerlando, Case No. 92-02178 (Fla. 2nd DCA December 9, 1992) [17 Fla. L. Weekly D2778]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

No evidence was presented to the trial court. The Complaint was not verified. The exhibits attached to the Complaint were not certified. No affidavits or other evidence was presented by DiGERLANDO in support of his Motion for Summary Judgment. The only admissions contained in the Answer are that the DEPARTMENT admitted the Complaint was an action for inverse condemnation, admitted that the DEPARTMENT is a governmental agency of the state of Florida, that venue is proper, and that the DEPARTMENT filed maps of reservation pursuant to §337.241, Florida Statutes (1987). (A 9) While the DEPARTMENT admitted that it must pay full compensation when the court makes a determination that a "taking" had occurred, its specifically denied that a "taking" had occurred in this case. (A 9-10)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Legislature enacted the map of reservation statute as a planning tool. Numerous maps were filed pursuant to the presumptively valid statute. This Court found the statute facially unconstitutional for failing to substantially advance a legitimate state interest. Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990).("Joint Ventures II") All maps in the state were invalidated by the decision.

Subsequent to this Court's decision, numerous property owners have sought compensation for a temporary "taking" of their property during the effective dates of the invalidated maps of reservation. These cases fall into four distinct categories: cases involving property specifically exempted from the regulation of the statute; cases involving property already developed to its highest and best use; cases involving property with unknown development potential or plans; cases involving property that was in the process of being developed and the map of reservation proximately caused cessation of the development.

The District Courts of Appeal have construed this Court's Decision in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> as establishing a per se "taking" rule for all maps of reservation. To the contrary, no case in regulatory takings jurisprudence (including <u>Joint Ventures II</u>) has adopted a per se rule of compensation for cases where the regulation is stricken for failing to substantially advance a legitimate state interest. A per se approach is only applied in

cases of a physical invasion or denial of all economically viable use.

Neither this Court's jurisprudence nor the United States Supreme Court's jurisprudence supports a per se rule for map of reservation cases. No other federal or state jurisprudence supports such a rule.

The Fifth District overshot the mark in its attempt to fashion a remedy for unconstitutional maps of reservation. The court, in Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. W. & F. Agrigrowth, 582 So.2d 790 (5th DCA), review denied, 591 So.2d 183 (Fla. 1991), established a per se rule of law which holds that the mere filing of a map of reservation constitutes a "temporary taking" of any property covered by that map of reservation. This is true, under W & F Agrigrowth, regardless of whether the damages caused by the taking are large, small, or non-existent. In other words, the filing of a map of reservation is synonymous with "taking of property."

The per se rule of <u>W & F Agrigrowth</u> is an irrebuttable or conclusive presumption of a "taking." Irrebuttable presumptions are constitutionally disfavored because they preclude individualized determinations of the facts upon which substantial rights or obligations may depend. These presumptions operate to deny the party against whom they are directed a fair opportunity to rebut them.

Consequently, in the instant case, the irrebuttable presumption of a "taking" closed the courtroom door in the DEPARTMENT's face when the question of liability was being considered. The operation of this rule deprived the DEPARTMENT of its rights under the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of both the Federal and Florida State Constitutions to fairly present evidence in its own defense. Furthermore, the enforcement of such a rule of absolute liability effectively denied the DEPARTMENT the right to full access to the courts as guaranteed by Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution.

A case by case analysis of map of reservation cases balances the competing interests of individual rights and our democratic form of government. Such an analysis allows both parties their day in court. Property owners whose property was exempted from regulation or already developed to its highest and best use would not be awarded compensation. Property owners whose property was in the process of being developed and the map of reservation proximately caused a temporary cessation of development will be provided compensation. The state's constitutional rights to due process and access to the courts will be preserved. The state's interest in avoiding unproductive litigation will be honored without infringing on a property owner's constitutional rights.

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal should be quashed and the case remanded with instructions that a property owner is only entitled to a ruling that a taking has occurred when he has proven by competent substantial evidence that the affect of the map of reservation was to deprive him of substantial economic use of his property as a whole.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER ALL LANDOWNERS WITH PROPERTY INSIDE THE BOUNDARIES OF INVALIDATED MAPS OF RESERVATION UNDER SUBSECTIONS 337.241(2) AND (3), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), ARE LEGALLY ENTITLED TO RECEIVE PER SE DECLARATIONS OF "TAKING" AND JURY TRIALS TO DETERMINE JUST COMPENSATION.

I. INTRODUCTION.

In the early 1980's, the Florida Legislature provided the DEPARTMENT with a planning tool for future highway construction by enacting the map of reservation statute codified at §337.241, Florida Statutes (1985). The statute allowed the DEPARTMENT to file a map in the public records that delineated future transportation corridors. Upon the filing of a map, local governments were prohibited from issuing development orders for construction within the boundaries of the designated corridor for a period of five years. §337.241(2), Florida Statutes (1985). The map was effective for five years, unless withdrawn. The statute had an administrative challenge provision. §337.241(3), Florida Statutes (1985).

Even in its earliest form, the map of reservation statute provided for two exemptions from its restrictions, renovations of existing commercial structures of less than 20% of the appraised value of the structure and renovation or improvement of existing residential structures as long as they are used as private residences. §337.241(2), Florida Statutes (1985).

In 1985, the legislature amended the map of reservation statute to allow expressway authorities created under Chapter 348 to file maps of reservation. Chapter 85-149, §2, Laws of Florida. After numerous maps were filed by both the DEPARTMENT and the Expressway Authorities pursuant to the statute, this Court addressed the facial constitutionality of the statute in Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990). ("Joint Ventures II")

This Court found the map of reservation statute to be unconstitutional:

We do not question the reasonableness of the state's goal to facilitate the general welfare. Rather we are concerned here with the means by which the legislature attempts to achieve that goal. Here, the means are not consistent with the constitution.

<u>Id</u>. at 626. This Court held that the map of reservation statute constituted an exercise of the state's police power "with a mind toward property acquisition." <u>Id</u>. at 627. <u>Joint Ventures II</u> had the affect of voiding all maps of reservation filed in the State of Florida as of July 27, 1990, the date this Court's opinion became final. The opinion did not discuss the statutory exemptions.

Subsequent to this Court's opinion in <u>Joint Ventures II</u>, numerous property owners have filed inverse condemnation claims

The legislature has recently repealed the map of reservation statute. Chapter 92-152, §108, Laws of Florida.

against the DEPARTMENT and Expressway Authorities based upon invalidated maps of reservation. The first appellate case addressing an inverse condemnation compensation claim based on Joint Ventures II, was Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. W & F Agrigrowth-Fernfield, LTD, 582 So. 2d 790 (5th DCA), review denied 591 So.2d 183 (Fla. 1991). W & F Agrigrowth has been interpreted as holding that <u>Joint Ventures II</u> entitles every property owner to a jury trial on compensation, regardless of the amount of damages. Other appellate cases subsequent to W & F Agrigrowth have followed W & F Agrigrowth without any independent analysis in the opinion. Seminole County Expressway Authority v. Bullet, 595 So.2d 105 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. West 50 LTD., 591 So.2d 682 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. West Orange Nurseries, 590 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); and, Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. Orange North Associates, 590 So.2d 1099, 1100 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) ["Whether any damages flowed from the taking in the instant case, thus entitling compensation to be awarded to the landowner, is to be determined by a jury."]; Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corp., 608 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992).

The suit filed in this case is representative of the inverse condemnation claims made in the suits arising from <u>Joint Ventures</u>

II. The claim is simply that (1) this Court found in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> that a "taking" had occurred, (2) a map of reservation touched DiGERLANDO's property, therefore he is entitled to

compensation. This argument has been successfully made in this case and the property owner has not been required to prove anything prior to the trial court finding that a "taking" has occurred and ordering a jury trial on valuation. Such an interpretation of this Court's opinion in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> is an unwarranted extension of regulatory takings jurisprudence and exposes the state to payment of unnecessary attorneys fees and costs.

This Court addressed a facial challenge to the statute in <u>Joint Ventures II</u>. The cases being filed now are claiming compensation for the effect a map had on their property as it was applied to their property. These "as applied" map of reservation cases fall into four distinct categories. The first type are ones where the property is used as a residence or is developed commercially and the proposed renovation does not exceed 20% of the appraised value of the structure. These are the uses exempted from regulation by the statute. A second category is property that was developed to its highest and best use prior to the filing of a map of reservation.

The third type of case is the type in which this case on appeal falls. In this type of case, the area of the property encompassed by the map of reservation is, at this time, unknown and the current use of the property has not been proven. In addition, it has not been determined whether the property owner had any verifiable intent and capacity to develop or whether the map of reservation actually frustrated the property owner's actual

attempts at development.

The fourth and final category of cases are the situations where the map of reservation covers a substantial portion of the vacant property that was in the process of being developed and the property owner can prove by competent substantial evidence that his attempts to develop the property were actually frustrated by the filing of the map of reservation.

The property owner in this inverse condemnation case alleges that he owns property, a portion of which was encompassed within an invalidated map of reservation. The property owner argues that this Court's ruling in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> entitles him to an automatic finding that a "taking" of his property occurred during the effective dates of the map of reservation without any further inquiry, and that he is then entitled to a jury trial to determine damages, whether substantial or nominal.

The property owner's interpretation of <u>Joint Ventures II</u> not only violates the express holding of <u>Joint Ventures II</u> but is wholly unsupported by regulatory takings caselaw from any state or federal jurisdiction. No court, including this Court and the United States Supreme Court has adopted a per se entitlement to compensation for regulations invalidated for failing to substantially advance a legitimate state interest. "A use restriction which fails to substantially advance a legitimate state interest may result in a 'taking.'" <u>Joint Ventures II</u>, 563 So.2d at

25, footnote 9. [emphasis supplied] "...[A] use restriction on real property may constitute a "taking" if not reasonably necessary to the effectuation of a substantial public purpose...." Penn Central, 438 U.S. at 127 [emphasis supplied].

· 1

II. NO COURT HAS ADOPTED A PER SE ENTITLEMENT TO COMPENSATION RULE FOR REGULATORY TAKINGS THAT FAIL TO SUBSTANTIALLY ADVANCE A LEGITIMATE STATE INTEREST.

A. THIS COURT IN <u>JOINT VENTURES II</u> DID NOT ADOPT A PER SE ENTITLEMENT TO COMPENSATION.

A reading of the majority opinion in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> indicates that the Court was not dealing with a claim for compensation. This Court specifically stated it was not addressing a claim for compensation, but focused its analysis on a constitutional challenge to the statutory mechanism. <u>Joint Ventures II</u>, 563 So.2d at 625. Because this Court expressly did not rule on the question of compensation for the property owner in <u>Joint Ventures II</u>, this Court's ruling in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> should not be stare decisis (or any other form of controlling precedent) that every property owner is entitled to compensation.

Counsel for DiGERLANDO has argued that even though this Court did not deal with compensation in <u>Joint Ventures II</u>, this Court did find in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> that a "taking" occurred, therefore everyone whose property was touched by a map of reservation is entitled to compensation. While DiGERLANDO has cited to various cases containing broad statements that compensation is required

when a "taking" is found, DiGERLANDO has not cited to one case which awards compensation to a property owner solely on the basis that the regulation is facially unconstitutional for failing to substantially advance a legitimate state interest.

Every case in regulatory takings jurisprudence that awards compensation to a property owner analyzes the extent of deprivation of economic use caused by the regulation prior to awarding compensation. That is precisely the standard enunciated by this Court in <u>Joint Ventures II</u> when a property owner claims entitlement to compensation:

Although regulation under the police power will always interfere to some degree with property use, compensation must be paid only when that interference deprives the owner of substantial economic use of his or her property. In effect, this deprivation has been deemed a "taking.". . . Thus, when compensation is claimed due to governmental regulation of property, the appropriate inquiry is directed to the extent of the interference or deprivation of the economic use.

Joint Ventures II, 563 So.2d at 625 [citations omitted].

In <u>Joint Ventures II</u> the map filed by the Florida Department of Transportation covered 6.49 acres of an 8.3 acre vacant parcel owned by Joint Ventures, Inc. <u>Joint Ventures II</u>, at 623. Joint Ventures challenged the DEPARTMENT's action in an administrative hearing and the DEPARTMENT's action was upheld. <u>Id</u>. at 624. Joint Ventures appealed the Final Order to the First District Court of Appeal, which found the map of reservation statute constitutional

but certified the question to this Court. <u>Joint Ventures, Inc. v.</u>

<u>Department of Transportation</u>, 519 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1st DCA

1988) ("Joint Ventures I"). The map of reservation in this case was

filed after the First District Court of Appeal upheld the statute's

constitutionality.

2 y y

While the Joint Ventures appeal was pending in the First District Court of Appeal, the DEPARTMENT initiated condemnation proceedings against Joint Ventures for the parcel and Joint Ventures filed a counterclaim seeking compensation for a "taking" of its property. Joint Ventures I, 519 So.2d at 1069. The eminent domain action and the counterclaim resulted in a monetary settlement between the parties. Id. Therefore, the issue before this Court in Joint Ventures II was not whether Joint Ventures was entitled to compensation, but whether the statute was facially unconstitutional for failing to advance a legitimate state interest: "Here, however, we do not deal with a claim for compensation, but with a constitutional challenge to the statutory mechanism." Joint Ventures II, 563 So.2d at 625.

The current rule of law that individual property owners are not entitled to compensation when a regulation under the police power is invalidated for failure to substantially advance a legitimate state interest has a long, well documented history. "Government hardly could go on if, to some extent, values incident to property could not be diminished without paying for every such change in the general law." Pennsylvania Coal Company v. Mahon,

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