#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF	TRANSPORTATION,	:
Petitione	er,	:
vs.		:
JOSEPH DIGERLA	ANDO,	:
Responder	nt.	:

CASE NO. 81,046

# ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JOSEPH DIGERLANDO

ROBERT C. SANCHEZ Florida Bar No. 570427 ELIZABETH L. BIEMER Florida Bar No. 820581 TRENAM, SIMMONS, KEMKER, SCHARF, BARKIN, FRYE & O'NEILL PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION 2700 Barnett Plaza Post Office Box 1102 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 223-7474 Attorneys for Respondent, Joseph DiGerlando

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1990), this Court determined that §§ 337.241(2) and (3), <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1987) unconstitutionally permitted the state to take private property without just compensation in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article X, Section 6(a) of the Florida Constitution. <u>Id</u>. at 623. The "acquisition" of private property by § 337.241 was analyzed in terms of the state's power of eminent domain as opposed to an exercise of the state's police power. <u>Id</u>. at 624-626.

The instant case involves the acquisition of DiGerlando's property under a map of reservation filed pursuant to § 337.241 in 1988 by DOT. The land encumbered by the map was "taken" for potential use in future road construction. This "taking" of DiGerlando's property entails the payment of full compensation. The amount of damages suffered by DiGerlando is not an issue which is before this Court.

In the alternative, if viewed under a regulatory "takings" analysis, § 337.241 failed to advance a legitimate state interest and, therefore, constituted a "taking" under the 2-prong test established by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Agins v. City of</u> <u>Tiburon</u>, 447 U.S. 255 (1980). Where a regulation either "fails to substantially advance a legitimate state interest <u>or</u> denies an owner economically viable use of his land" a taking occurs. <u>Id</u>. at 260. § 337.241 was not a regulation of property for the purpose of

-3-

"public safety, health, morals, comfort and general well-being." Instead, it was a blatant effort by the state to give itself a competitive advantage by depressing land values in anticipation of condemnation proceedings. The United States Supreme Court has held that a regulation which fails to advance a "legitimate state interest" constitutes an uncompensated taking of private property. <u>Nollan v. California Coastal Comm'n</u>, 483 U.S. 825 (1987). Where a regulation is found unconstitutional for failing to advance a legitimate state interest, courts do <u>not</u> require a property owner to also prove deprivation of economic use to establish a "taking".

The spectre of potentially "massive" government liability raised by the state is just that -- a ghost. In reality, the safeguards provided by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and the limitations on fee awards under case law and Chapters 73 and 74, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1991) militate against such a "doomsday" scenario. Moreover, the state and federal constitutions cannot be ignored on the basis that to do so will save the state money. Just as the constitution does not permit the state to <u>increase</u> its power merely by paying for it, so the enforcement of the constitution does not depend on the government's potential cost of doing so. State and federal constitutions are a limitation on government power. Government, like all institutions, often operates under the maxim "give an inch, take a mile." When the "taking" involves the acquisition by government of private property for a public project,

- 4 -

the law is clear that the public as a whole, as opposed to the unfortunate individual, must bear the cost.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. <u>DIGERLANDO IS ENTITLED TO COMPENSATION AS A RESULT OF DOT</u> EXERCISING ITS POWER OF EMINENT DOMAIN.

A. In <u>Joint Ventures</u>, This Court Held That § 337.241, <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1987) Was, In Effect, an Effort to Acquire Land By Circumventing the Constitutional and Statutory Protections Afforded Private Property Owners Under the Principles of Eminent Domain.

In Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Dep't of Transp., 563 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1990), this Court held that §§ 337.241(2) and (3), Florida Statutes (1987) permitted the State to take private property without just compensation in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article X, § 6(a) of the Florida Constitution. Id. at 623. While the actual holding of Joint Ventures is not in dispute, the exact basis for the Court's decision has been a source of confusion for advocates and members of the judiciary.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>See Dep't. of Transp. v. Weisenfeld</u>, No. 91-2234 (Fla. 5th DCA, filed March 26, 1993) (en banc) (not final until disposition of motion for rehearing). In a sharply divided opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal receded from <u>Orlando/Orange County</u> <u>Expressway Authority v. W & F Agrigrowth-Fernfield, Ltd.</u>, 582 So. 2d 790 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). <u>Agrigrowth</u>, citing <u>Joint Ventures</u>, held that maps of reservation filed pursuant to § 337.241 effected a "taking" based on the statute's failure to advance a legitimate state interest. "A regulation effects a taking if it does not substantially advance a legitimate state interest <u>or</u> if the regulation denies an owner economically viable use of his land.



The central issue in <u>Joint Ventures</u> was not, as DOT contends, "whether the statute was facially unconstitutional for failing to advance a legitimate state interest." P. Brief 16. Had DOT engaged in a careful reading of <u>Joint Ventures</u>, it would have recognized that this Court's opinion was based on the distinction between the confiscation of private property under the government's

Agins v. City of Tiburon, 447 U.S. 255 (1980)." 582 So.2d at 792.

Moreover, as Judge Harris noted, "The state's effort to give itself a competitive advantage if it later decided to acquire the property does not fit any recognized justification for the exercise of the police power." <u>Weisenfeld</u> at 6. In fact, <u>Joint Ventures</u> held § 337.241 unconstitutional as a "thinly veiled attempt to 'acquire' land by avoiding the legislatively mandated procedural and substantive protections of Chapters 73 and 74." <u>Joint</u> <u>Ventures</u>, 523 So. 2d at 625. Clearly, § 337.241 was not a police power regulation, and therefore the majority's inquiry into the extent of the interference or deprivation of the owner's economic use of the property is inapposite. <u>See supra pp. 5-10</u>.

A <u>per curium</u> dissent in <u>Weisenfeld</u> takes issue with the majority's disavowance of <u>Agrigrowth</u> and, more importantly, their stilted reading of <u>Joint Ventures</u>. As the dissent notes, the majority's attempts to distinguish <u>Joint Ventures</u> based on the fact that no compensation claim was before the Court, ignores the fact that the property owner in <u>Joint Ventures</u>, like the property owner in the instant case, is only asserting that the filing and recording of the map of reservation constituted a taking. The amount of damages suffered by the property owner is another issue, and one to be decided at a later time. The dissent also viewed with skepticism the "windfall attorneys fees" argument posed by the majority.



In <u>Weisenfeld</u>, the majority chose to disregard the "legitimate state interest" prong of <u>Agins</u> in favor of a "substantial economic deprivation" analysis. The problem with the majority's analysis is that it proves <u>too much</u>. Under the regulatory taking analysis employed by the United States Supreme Court, it is unnecessary to discuss "economic deprivation" to a particular property owner in the "takings" context where a statute or regulation has been found unconstitutional for failing to advance a legitimate state interest. <u>See supra pp. 13-18</u>.

power of eminent domain and the regulation of private property under the government's police power. <u>Id</u>. at 624-25. Ultimately, the <u>Joint Ventures</u> Court held that the statute at issue violated the constitution because the state was attempting to acquire property under its power of eminent domain while only providing an after-the fact remedy to the property owner. <u>Id</u>. at 627.

The facts in the <u>Joint Ventures</u> case are analogous to those involved in this appeal. In <u>Joint Ventures</u>, the property owner contracted to sell a parcel of vacant land contingent upon the buyer's ability to obtain the necessary development permits. Sometime thereafter, DOT determined that a portion of the land was needed for drainage associated with the planned widening of a highway and recorded a map of reservation in accordance with § 337.241(1), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1987). The owner contested the map of reservation at an administrative hearing in accordance with the remedy provided by the statute. The hearing officer found against the owner and the owner appealed to the First District Court of Appeal arguing that the statute, as applied to his property, effected a "taking." On appeal, the district court concluded that the challenged statute was constitutional because the owner could seek compensation through inverse condemnation.

The Supreme Court of Florida reversed the district court's decision and held that the statute violated the United States and Florida constitutions. Distinguishing between the two circumstances in which the state must pay property owners, the Court noted:

-7-

First, the state must pay when it confiscates private property for common use under its power of eminent domain. Second, the state must pay when it regulates private property under its police power in such a manner that the regulation effectively deprives the owner of the economically viable use of that property, thereby unfairly imposing the burden of providing for the public welfare upon the affected owner.

Joint Ventures, 563 So. 2d at 624. The Court further explained:

[T]he former involves the <u>taking</u> of property because of its need for the public use while the latter involves the <u>regulation</u> of such property to prevent its use thereof in a manner that is detrimental to the public interest.

Id. at 625 (citing J. Sackman, <u>Nichols'</u> <u>The Law of Eminent Domain</u>, § 1.42 at 1-133 to 1-134 (rev. 3d ed. 1988) (emphasis in original). Continuing its discussion, the Court determined:

> Our inquiry requires that we determine whether the statute is an appropriate regulation under the police power, as DOT asserts, or whether the statute is merely an attempt to circumvent the constitutional and statutory protections afforded private property ownership under the principles of eminent domain.

<u>Id</u>. at 625. DOT proposed various economic reasons for the statute, including allowing DOT to acquire land at decreased costs. Analyzing DOT's true designs, the Court concluded:

> Rather than supporting a "regulatory" characterization, these circumstances expose the statutory scheme as a thinly veiled attempt to "acquire" land by avoiding the legislatively mandated procedural and substantive protections of Chapter 73 and 74.

> > - 8 -

<u>Id</u>. The Court determined that the means by which the legislature attempted to achieve its goals were not consistent with the Constitution:

> We perceive no valid distinction between "freezing" property in this fashion and deliberately attempting to depress land values in anticipation of eminent domain proceedings.

<u>Id</u>. at 626. The Court found the statute unconstitutional because it limited the property owner to an after-the-fact remedy of inverse condemnation and deprived him of the benefit of formal condemnation proceedings. <u>Id</u>. at 627.

The Court's analysis in <u>Joint Ventures</u> reflects the distinction between acts of eminent domain and acts of police power, and is supported by established principles of common law. <u>See e.g.</u> <u>State Plant Board v. Smith</u>, 110 So. 2d 401, 404 (Fla. 1959) (recognizing the distinction between private property appropriations for public use under eminent domain and regulation of property in the exercise of police power). Traditionally, the state takes property by eminent domain because it is useful to the public, and regulates property under the police power because it is harmful to the public. <u>See Graham v. Estuary Properties. Inc.</u>, 399 So. 2d 1374, 1381 (Fla. 1981); <u>see also Department of Agriculture</u> <u>v. Mid-Florida Growers. Inc.</u>, 521 So. 2d 101, 103 (Fla. 1988).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Examples of the state's eminent domain power would include the transfer of private property interests to the state for the purposes of establishing a public park, school or highway. On the other hand, the state would exercise its police power by establishing building restrictions in flood zones or enacting zoning regulations to protect the breeding grounds of endangered species.



In <u>Joint Ventures</u>, as well as the case at hand, the filing of the map of reservation was clearly aimed at the possibility of acquiring land at a later date for use in public roads. While the map was in place, DiGerlando was denied the right to construct upon or develop the property covered by the map of reservation.<sup>3</sup> Accordingly, this Court correctly held that the statute was merely an attempt to circumvent the protections afforded private property owners under the established principles of eminent domain, thereby avoiding payment of just compensation under Chapters 73 and 74, Fla. Stat. (1987). Joint Ventures, 563 So. 2d at 625.

# B. The State is Obliged to Make Full Compensation for Using Its Eminent Domain Power.

Where the state exercises its inherent right to take private property for public use under its power of eminent domain, the state is obliged to make full compensation. <u>Joint Ventures</u>, 563

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As recently articulated by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Snyder v. Board of County Comm'n., Brevard County</u>, 595 So. 2d 65 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991):

The most valuable aspect of the ownership of property is the right to use it. Any infringement on the owner's full and free use of privately owned property, whether the result of physical limitations or governmentally enacted restrictions, is a direct limitation on, and diminution of, the value of the property and the value of its ownership and accordingly triggers constitutional protections. All incidents of property ownership are protected from infringement by the state unless regulations are reasonably necessary to secure the health, safety, good order, and general welfare of the public. <u>Id</u>. at 70. (Citations omitted).

So. 2d at 624; Lamar v. Jacksonville Terminal Co., 41 Fla. 377, 27 So. 225, 237 (Fla. 1900); Moody v. Jacksonville T. & K. W. R. Co., 20 Fla. 597, 606 (Fla. 1884). Compensation is guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution which provides that "private property [shall not] be taken for public use, without just compensation." That protection applies to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>Chicago B. & O. R. R. v. City of</u> <u>Chicago</u>, 166 U.S. 226 (1897). In addition, Florida's Constitution provides "no private property shall be taken except for a public purpose and with full compensation." Article X, § 6(a), Fla. Const.

This Court has already determined that DOT exercised its power of eminent domain upon the filing of the map of reservation under § 337.241, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1987). As such, DiGerlando is entitled to a jury trial to determine the amount of compensation he is constitutionally guaranteed.

## II. <u>ALTERNATIVELY, DIGERLANDO HAS SUFFERED A "TAKING" AT THE</u> <u>HANDS OF DOT AND IS ENTITLED TO COMPENSATION UNDER THE</u> <u>REGULATORY TAKING ANALYSIS APPLIED BY THE UNITED STATES</u> <u>SUPREME COURT</u>.

DiGerlando contends that by filing the map of reservation, DOT exercised its power of eminent domain which entitles DiGerlando to full and complete compensation. For purposes of argument, however, DiGerlando is also entitled to a jury trial to determine compensation as a result of the taking of his property by a regulation

-11-

which has been found unconstitutional for its failure to advance a legitimate state interest. <u>Joint Ventures</u>, 563 So. 2d at 626.

 A "Taking" Has Occurred Under the First Prong of <u>Agins</u> Because This Court Has Determined That § 337.241, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1987) Does Not Substantially Advance a Legitimate State Interest.

The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that a land use regulation effects a "taking" if the ordinance does not substantially advance a legitimate state interest <u>or</u> denies an owner economically viable use of his land. <u>Agins v. City of</u> <u>Tiburon</u>, 447 U.S. 255, 260 (1980) (citations omitted) (emphasis supplied); <u>see also Nollan v. California Coastal Comm'n</u>, 483 U.S. 825, 834 (1987); <u>Keystone Bituminous Coal Assoc. v. DeBenedictis</u>, 480 U.S. 470, 485 (1987); <u>Penn Central Transp. Co. v. New York</u> <u>City</u>, 438 U.S. 104, 650 (1978). Where a property owner establishes that <u>either</u> of these criteria are met, a taking has occurred and the property owner is entitled to full compensation. <u>See</u> <u>discussion supra pp. 13-18</u>.

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